

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol)

Janjua S, Dancyger C, Mateus M, McInnerney D, Carter D, Tookman AJ, Candy B

Janjua S, Dancyger C, Mateus M, McInnerney D, Carter D, Tookman AJ, Candy B. Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2024, Issue 10. Art. No.: CD015421. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015421.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	4
METHODS	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	10
REFERENCES	12
APPENDICES	17
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	18
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	18
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	19

Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness

Sadia Janjua¹, Caroline Dancyger², Mario Mateus³, Daisy McInnerney⁴, Deborah Carter⁵, Adrian J Tookman⁶, Bridget Candy⁷

¹School of Health and Social Wellbeing, University of the West of England, Bristol, UK. ²Barts Health NHS Trust, Cancer & Palliative Care Psychological Services, London, UK. ³Supportive and specialist palliative care service, Gold Coast Hospital and Health Service, Gold Coast, Australia. ⁴Centre for Prevention, Detection and Diagnosis, Wolfson Institute of Population Health, Queen Mary University of London, London, UK. ⁵Winter Haven, Florida, USA. ⁶London, UK. ⁷UCL Division of Psychiatry, Marie Curie Research Department, London, UK

Contact: Sadia Janjua, snj0672@gmail.com.

Editorial group: Cochrane Central Editorial Service. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 10, 2024.

Citation: Janjua S, Dancyger C, Mateus M, McInnerney D, Carter D, Tookman AJ, Candy B. Psychological interventions for emotional wellbeing in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2024, Issue 10. Art. No.: CD015421. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015421.

Copyright © 2024 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Objectives

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (intervention). The objectives are as follows:

To determine the benefits and harms of psychological interventions compared to treatment as usual, waiting list, active control, or another psychological intervention to improve emotional well-being in adults with an advanced progressive life-limiting illness.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

An advanced progressive life-limiting illness refers to one or more health conditions that become serious or advanced enough that general health and function decline and treatments start to lose their impact, ultimately leading to the end of life (Stuart 2019). This refers to people in their last one or two years of life, or people accessing a service typically used in advanced disease stages, e.g. palliative care (Bayly 2021; NICE 2019). Advanced progressive life-limiting illnesses are heterogeneous in nature, and differ from person to person (Amblas-Novellas 2016). Due to uncertainties in clinical trajectories of illnesses, e.g. heart failure, it is acknowledged that approaches to staging and identifying proximity to death can be difficult, and one approach may not be appropriate for all illnesses (Im 2019). The course of illnesses or prognoses can be impacted by one or more coexisting conditions (Amblas-Novellas 2016). Variation in the course of a person's type and timing of decline in health presents challenges in how healthcare services can evaluate and prioritise treatments when required (Cohen-Mansfield 2018). People with chronic or long-term conditions, such as heart, lung, renal, and liver failure can experience gradual decline with sudden episodes of deterioration or improvement, which can last for months or years (Amblàs-Novellas 2016; Murray 2005). In contrast, cancer can be associated with a stable phase, or a slow decline lasting for weeks or months, followed by a severe decline in the last few weeks (Amblas-Novellas 2016). The trajectory of a progressive neurological condition varies, depending on the condition. For example, multiple sclerosis can be characterised by an acute or relapse phase, followed by a slowly progressive neurological deterioration, which is independent of previous inflammatory episodes (also called the secondary progressive phase (Maca-Lallana 2021)). We will not include people with dementia in this review, because its prognosis is less predictable and has a more varied trajectory of illness compared to other terminal illnesses (Walsh 2021). Dementia affects cognition, functional abilities, and social skills, which lead to low mood and challenging behaviours (Walsh 2021). Advanced or end-stage dementia is characterised by profound cognitive impairment, inability to communicate verbally, and complete functional dependence (Walsh 2021). People with advanced dementia are not always able to express their wishes about their care and therefore, lack the capacity to make decisions, which adds to the complexity of providing care (Allen 2003; Walsh 2021).

People living with an advanced progressive life-limiting illness, or those progressing towards the end of life can experience multidimensional symptoms as a consequence of the illness itself, its treatment, and comorbidities, which can impact physical, social, spiritual, and psychological well-being (Almada 2018; Carduff 2018). Conscious and unconscious thoughts, including the threat of death, feelings of fear, grief, hopelessness, worry about the future, their existence, shock, denial, loneliness, loss of self-identity, and professional and familial roles, contribute to increased psychological distress (Almada 2018; Ingham 2020; Limonero 2018). For example, 42% of people with cancer suffer death anxiety, or the extreme fear of death, which is associated with psychological distress are linked to an increased burden of physical symptoms, such as pain, fatigue, and breathlessness (Almada 2018; Ingham

2020; Limonero 2018; Soto-Rubio 2018). Collectively, psychological and physical distress lead to poorer quality of life, and the avoidance of end-of-life discussions (Ellis 2015; Hong 2022).

For people with advanced progressive life-limiting illnesses, it is important to identify approaches that will improve emotional, physical, psychological, and social well-being, and relieve distress (WHO 2020). This review will focus on psychological interventions for adults, aged 18 years and over, who have an advanced progressive life-limiting illness, including, but not limited to cancer, progressive organ dysfunction, and progressive neurological disorders, in all settings, e.g. hospitals, nursing homes, outpatient palliative care clinics, specialised clinics, hospices, or at home. We acknowledge that the approaches to define an advanced progressive life-limiting illness will be varied, and may be based on staging, prognosis, or proximity to death. We will include definitions of an advanced illness, and those expected to die within one to two years, as reported in the trials.

Description of the intervention

For the purposes of this review, psychological interventions are defined as any psychological or psychotherapeutic treatment or therapy designed to target cognitive, behavioural, and emotional symptoms or experiences to improve health outcomes, well-being, and quality of life, and to reduce psychological distress (Breitbart 2015; Chochinov 2011; Fraguell 2018; Guzmán-Castellanos 2016; Warth 2019).

Psychological therapies can be very broadly categorised into three main philosophical and theoretical schools, comprising cognitive behavioural, psychoanalytic or psychodynamic, and humanistic therapies (Beck 1979; Freud 1949; Jung 1963; Klein 1960; Lazarus 1971; Marks 1981; Maslow 1943; May 1961; Rogers 1951; Skinner 1953; Watson 1924).

Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) is founded on behavioural analysis and operant theory, cognitive theory, and social learning theory (Bandura 1977; Beck 1979; Bergin 1975; Skinner 1953). Associations between cognitions, emotions, and behaviours are emphasised, and are believed to interact to influence psychological distress or well-being. Consequently, interventions are focused on altering maladaptive social or environmental, behavioural, and cognitive factors in order to reduce psychological distress (Hofmann 2008). CBT is one of the most widely researched and used psychological interventions for treating anxiety and depression across the lifespan in people with mental health problems, and in people with physical health conditions, including those with advanced, life-limiting illness (Moorey 1996; Price 2009).

Third wave CBT expands upon traditional CBT, moving away from the goal to ameliorate maladaptive or negative cognitions and emotions, to focus more on the context, processes, and functions of how a person relates to their internal experiences, such as thoughts, emotions, urges, and sensations (Hayes 2017). These therapies have gained popularity within the context of psychological distress in people with physical health problems (Hulbert-Williams 2021). Examples of third wave therapies include acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) and compassion focused therapy (Gilbert 2009; Kabat-Zinn 1990; Low 2016). ACT emphasises developing psychological flexibility, with a focus on valuing living in the present, rather than fearing the future (Low 2016). Compassion focused therapy emphasises



developing compassion for one's self and others (Gilbert 2009). Mindfulness based programmes, including mindfulness based stress reduction, are structured group programmes of mindfulness training, developed by Kabat-Zinn (Kabat-Zinn 1990). Dialectical behaviour therapy and schema therapy are examples of third wave CBT interventions that consist of therapeutic frameworks, and have been developed for people with personality vulnerabilities (May 2016; Jacob 2013). However, they can be used to assist people with significant distress, interpersonal challenges, and underdeveloped self-identity (Faraji 2015; Köhler 2017).

Psychoanalytic or psychodynamic based therapies are rooted in psychoanalytic theory, developed by Sigmund Freud (Freud 1949). A number of brief psychodynamic therapy approaches aim to enable insight and consider how previous experiences influence the present (Roth 2006). These approaches help people to understand and resolve their difficulties by increasing awareness of their internal world and its influence over relationships in the past and the present. The relationship with the therapist is central to the therapeutic approach, with transference and counter-transference seen as key therapeutic concepts (Hersoug 2014). Examples of these therapies include interpersonal therapy, which is based on a medical model, and defines major depression as a diagnosable and treatable psychiatric illness, and empirically derived interpersonal factors related to depression (Markowitz 1998; Weissman 2000). This is different from Hobson's conversational model, which involves a process of interpersonal training through a focused conversation with the therapist, based on the individual's feelings and interpersonal problems expressed in the 'here and now' of the therapeutic relationship, rather than being talked about in a detached way (Hobson 1977). Dynamic interpersonal therapy is a brief dynamic approach, informed by attachment and mentalisation, and views symptoms of depression and anxiety as responses to interpersonal difficulties or perceived threats to attachments, e.g. loss or separation, and threats to one's self (Fonagy 2020; Lemma 2013). Expressive therapy is based on a Core Conflictual Relationship Theme Method, which involves support from the therapist to understand the focal issue that the person is expressing (Luborsky 1984).

Humanistic psychotherapies are based on the theory that people 'self actualise', which is an inherent tendency to develop their potential (Rogers 1951; Maslow 1970). People are unique, selfaware entities who are free to choose how they live, and who need to be understood in the context of their individual experiences and characteristics (Cain 2002). Key humanistic therapies include existential therapy, transactional analysis, Gestalt therapy, and person centred, life review, and dignity therapy (Berne 1961; Butler 1974; Chochinov 2011; Perls 1976; Rogers 1951; Van Deurzen 1997). The therapist's core conditions of empathy, genuineness, and unconditional positive regard are the cornerstones of therapy (Rogers 1951). Humanistic therapies have been widely used in hospice settings (Almada 2018; Chochinov 2011).

Psychological interventions can be delivered on an individual or group basis, in either a community, hospital, or hospice setting. Many interventions have the potential to be delivered by telephone, by video conferencing software, or through online platforms where in-person interactions with clinical psychologists may not be available. Because there is lack of clarity about which modes of delivery are helpful in improving an individual's experience of receiving psychological interventions, we will explore any mode of delivery, e.g. face-to-face, technology-based, or a combination, or by virtual reality in any setting. We will not include spirituality, religious, or music therapy interventions, as they are covered by other Cochrane reviews (Bradt 2021; Candy 2012).

How the intervention might work

The proposed outcomes for different psychological interventions will vary, depending on the theoretical orientation and approach of the intervention.

CBT typically uses an integrated approach of two theories, to target cognitions and behaviours, by assessing unrealistic fears and maladaptive avoidance behaviours (Greer 2012; Hofmann 2008). CBT is frequently used to treat emotional distress (Moorey 1996). However, it is not clear which people would benefit from psychological interventions. CBT can be acceptable to some people with cancer who are experiencing depression, anxiety, and adjustment disorders in the palliative care setting, but less effective in reducing depression in other advanced cancer populations because of the burden of physical symptoms, such as low energy and reduced concentration (Anderson 2008; Serfaty 2020). In other advanced life-limiting illnesses, such as motor neurone disease, CBT with counselling has shown promising results (Zarroti 2021). CBT may help to reduce psychological symptoms in other advanced illnesses by encouraging people to think in a focused, positive, and hopeful manner about their illness throughout its course (Guzmán-Castellanos 2016). Flexibility in how CBT is delivered, such as shorter sessions, may be beneficial in this population (Anderson 2008).

Psychoanalytic and psychodynamic therapies encourage people to talk and become aware of how their experiences influence the present (Roth 2006). Psychoanalytic therapy assumes that symptoms can be reduced if the underlying conflict is resolved, by focussing on the unconscious or repressed thoughts and feelings. Psychodynamic therapy focusses on unconscious processes manifested in the person's behaviour to promote self-awareness and understanding of the influence of the past on present behaviour (McCarthy 1981). For example, through free association, i.e. a person talks about whatever comes into their mind, the therapist encourages the person to recognise their own origin of the conflict (Chamlou 2024). Psychoanalytic and psychodynamic therapies can have positive impacts on depression and anxiety (Huber 2013; Pitman 2020; Ribeiro 2018). These interventions may help to resolve emotional distress in people with advanced progressive life-limiting illnesses.

Humanistic psychotherapy, i.e. person centred, assumes that people have the inherent tendency to develop their potential (Maslow 1970; Rogers 1951). People are self-aware. They are free to choose how they live, are responsible for choices they make, are their own being, and they need to be understood in the context of their individual experiences and characteristics (Cain 2002). In clinical practice, humanistic psychotherapy is not structured or manualised for psychological disorders, but it emphasises the 'growth-inducing power' of the therapeutic relationship with the therapist (Cain 2002). The therapist has an unconditional, positive, empathetic, and genuine role that helps to create an environment in which the person gains insight, accepts, and changes, with the potential to address existential distress and reduce psychological disorders, such as depression (Cain 2002). Although the main aim of humanistic psychotherapy is not to address depression, it

Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol) Copyright © 2024 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



can be reduced by talking through life history and current issues in the context of the individual's life story, past strengths and accomplishments, which increases self-acceptance and personal growth (Cain 2002; Davies 2010; Lee 2020).

Other interventions based on psychological theory, such as art psychotherapy, contribute to change and development in people by means of visual art, within a psychotherapeutic relationship with an art therapist (British Association of Art Therapists 2022; De Witte 2021). Art therapy helps individuals to express their thoughts and feelings when it is difficult to verbalise their experiences, to improve self-awareness, cope with symptoms, and overcome distress and psychological shock (Walsh 2003). People can gain a sense of dignity, confidence, and accomplishment in light of their illness by completing artwork (Park 2020).

Psychological interventions have the potential to improve outcomes. However, it is unclear whether these interventions represent the conditions and characteristics in real world clinical practice (Kazdin 2008). Factors that may not be considered include comorbidities, tailoring of care, addressing non-physical needs, communication, preparation and acceptance of death, how the care is delivered, skills and qualifications of therapists delivering psychological therapies, honouring the individual's wishes, and relationship development (Koslov 2018; Mistry 2015).

Another challenge is access to traditional face-to-face psychotherapy, due to limited resources, and the inability to attend hospital consultations due to poor health or living in remote areas (Nazanin 2021). There has been a demand for technology-based interventions as an alternative approach to providing psychological support. However, results of effectiveness are varied (Finucane 2021). A recent review of virtual care interventions for end-of-life and palliative care showed that technology-based interventions improved quality of life when used as a supplement to face-to-face care, but findings were mixed for anxiety and depression (Dolan 2021).

Why it is important to do this review

International and national health organisations recognise the importance of end-of-life care and make recommendations to address the psychological needs of this population (BPS 2020; Payne 2022; ESMO 2021; NICE 2004; WHO 2020; WPCA 2014). However, the majority of specific palliative care guidelines do not make evidence-based recommendations for psychological interventions.

Evidence for the clinical effectiveness of psychological interventions for people with advanced progressive life-limiting illnesses is uncertain and conflicting, due to small sample numbers in trials (Von Blanckenburg 2018). Most reviews of psychological interventions report psychological therapies in the cancer population, with limited information about non-cancer illnesses. The reduction of depression and anxiety through CBT, mindfulness, and meaning-based interventions varies. However, the observed effects are mostly in cancer populations (Von Blanckenburg 2018). There are challenges in methodological research that may contribute to uncertainty, or even in the generation of meaningful evidence. These may include loss of participants from studies (due to illness or death), difficulty taking part in standard psychological therapy (due to illness or disability), and questions about the applicability of outcomes validated in

non-palliative care settings (Chen 2014). It is important to identify the applicability of psychological interventions, and gaps in the evidence for which future research is required.

There are interventions currently used in practice that are not based on psychological theory. However, for the purpose of this review, we will only focus on interventions that are based on psychological theory, and that are delivered either directly by, or under the supervision of a psychological specialist, e.g. a psychological specialist, a talking therapist, or an arts psychotherapist. The skill level of healthcare professionals can impact the effectiveness of psychological interventions (Evans 2013). Therefore, we will report this information and a description of the psychological interventions, using the template for intervention and replication checklist to guide discussion of the identified evidence (Hoffman 2014). As there is no formal classification of psychological interventions available in the literature, it will be important to categorise interventions according to the evidence that we find. Discussion and exploration of other available guidance will help to understand whether interventions can be grouped.

This is the first Cochrane review to investigate the effectiveness of psychological interventions for emotional well-being in people with advanced progressive life-limiting illness. This topic has been identified as a high priority through a priority setting process in the Cochrane Pain, Palliative, and Supportive Care review group, which involved multiple stakeholders. We will use up-to-date Cochrane methods to provide completeness in the reporting of psychological interventions.

OBJECTIVES

To determine the benefits and harms of psychological interventions compared to treatment as usual, waiting list, active control, or another psychological intervention to improve emotional wellbeing in adults with an advanced progressive life-limiting illness.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include randomised controlled trials (RCTs) only, as they are the best design to minimise bias when evaluating the effectiveness of interventions. We will include parallel-, cross-over, and cluster-RCTs.

We will include published clinical trial results, summaries of otherwise unpublished clinical trials, and abstracts; if there are insufficient data for analysis in the abstracts, we will attempt to locate the full study (e.g. by contacting the study authors). We will add abstracts to Studies awaiting classification if data from the full study are unavailable.

We will exclude non-randomised studies, quasi-randomised studies, case reports, and clinical observations. We will exclude equivalence or non-inferiority trials, as their aim is to find no difference in effectiveness between the intervention and the comparator. Similarly, we will exclude studies comparing one psychological intervention with another in equivalence or non-inferiority studies. Although these study designs may be considered useful, they are often inadequately powered, and effectiveness may

be difficult to interpret if, for example, a standard care group is not part of the trial.

Types of participants

We will include studies recruiting adults, aged 18 years and over, with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (described as being at a later stage of disease, in the last one to two years of life, and who may or may not be engaged with palliative care services (Bayly 2021; NICE 2019)). Participants can be included from any setting: hospital, nursing home, outpatient palliative care clinic, specialised clinic, hospice, or at home. It is likely that the approaches to define an advanced progressive life-limiting illness will vary, and may be based on staging, prognosis, or proximity to death. We will include definitions of advanced illness, and those who are terminally ill and expected to die within the next one to two years, as reported by the trialists.

Diagnosis of the illness will include, but will not be limited to, cancer, progressive neurological conditions (e.g. multiple sclerosis), or progressive organ dysfunction (e.g. advanced kidney failure, liver cirrhosis, heart and respiratory disease). We will exclude studies in which participants have dementia or significant cognitive impairment, as interventions are likely to be different in this population.

We will include studies in which only a subset of participants is eligible, if characteristics and outcomes of those participants can be extracted separately. If we find studies in which only a subset of relevant participants is included, we will contact the study authors to obtain information and relevant data.

Types of interventions

We will include credible psychological interventions that are intended to improve or promote emotional well-being, reduce psychological distress, and improve the quality of life in people with an advanced progressive life-limiting illness. Based on judgement and discussion, if psychological interventions are clinically similar (e.g. CBT-based interventions) we will group them in analyses.

Psychological interventions are defined as any psychological or psychotherapeutic treatment informed by psychological theory or based on an existing psychological model or framework; which is designed to target cognitive, behavioural, and emotional symptoms or experiences; and is developed or delivered either directly by, or under the supervision of, a healthcare professional. For example, we may find coping skills training based on cognitive theory, developed by a clinical psychologist, and delivered by a junior psychologist under the supervision of an experienced senior psychologist (Williams 2020). Psychological interventions can be delivered face-to-face or through technology-mediated communication (e.g. email, phone, teleconferencing, online chat) with a health professional. We will include studies that include psychological interventions delivered by virtual reality (e.g. cognitive behavioural therapy to target and strengthen emotional regulation and psychological well-being delivered by virtual reality (Seon 2023)).

Supportive care is often not clearly defined for non-cancer advanced progressive life-limiting illnesses, and the majority of research has been in cancer. We acknowledge that the definition of supportive care used in cancer cannot be applied to all populations. One study defined supportive care as "multidisciplinary holistic care of patients with malignant and non-malignant chronic diseases and serious illnesses, and those that matter to them, to ensure the best possible quality of life. It extends as a right and necessity for all patients, is available throughout the course of the condition, concurrent to condition management, and is given equal priority alongside diagnosis and treatment. It should be individualised, taking into account a person's past life experiences, their current situation, and personal goals" (Cramp 2013). We will include supportive care interventions that are clearly defined for cancer and non-cancer study populations, are based on psychological or psychotherapeutic content, and aim to target psychological distress.

We will compare psychological interventions to usual care, waiting list, active control, or another psychological intervention using trialists' classifications. Waiting list and usual care are likely to vary between trials, as this implies regular care. Whether individuals seek care other than regular consultation to access care is likely to vary in trials. Therefore, individuals may receive different treatment, which in some cases, may be similar to active control. Active control is defined as a non-psychological treatment designed to change behaviour, e.g. physical therapy or education (Williams 2020).

We acknowledge that control groups that receive usual care may receive psychological therapy as part of that care, which may not be reported in the publication. While this information may not be possible to ascertain, this is not a reason to exclude a study. We will assess and interpret this limitation as part of the discussion and conclusion of the review.

We will include comparisons of psychological interventions with active control groups, e.g. education about the illness, or discussions about managing the illness. We acknowledge that it may not be possible to ascertain whether the active control group is a true control. We will contact study authors for clarification of the active control, if required. We will include trials that compare one psychological intervention with another, provided that it is not an equivalence trial.

We will include multi-component interventions, of which psychological intervention is a key part of the intervention.

We will exclude the following studies.

- Equivalence or non-inferiority studies in which the aim is not to find a difference in effectiveness between the intervention and the comparator
- Studies in which the control group has explicit psychotherapeutic content beyond what would be expected in usual care for people at the advanced stage of their illness
- Studies in which the intervention has insufficient psychological content, refers only to the provision of education or mediation practice, and is not based on a theory that supports behaviour change (Williams 2020)
- Studies in which the psychological intervention is delivered by an unsupervised non-psychologist, and has no psychological content
- Studies in which supportive care is not clearly defined for the participant group, does not target psychological distress, and is not based on psychological or psychotherapeutic content

Types of outcome measures

We will compare psychological interventions to control groups, e.g. usual care, waiting list, active control, or another psychological intervention, using the following post-intervention time point categories:

- Post-intervention: immediate; end of intervention to 4 weeks
- Post-intervention: medium-term; end of intervention, more than 4 weeks to less than 12 weeks
- Post-intervention: long-term; end of intervention, more than 12 weeks to less than 26 weeks

We will extract outcomes that are measured using scales for palliative care or related populations, such as severe progressive illnesses, e.g. cancers or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Examples of palliative care specific scales include the Palliative care Outcome Scale (POS) as a measure of quality of life (Bausewein 2011). Where there are no specific palliative care scales, we will look at similar outcome measures.

We will extract outcome data when data for intervention and control groups are available and matched for time point(s) reported in studies. If studies report multiple time points, we will extract post-intervention data for both intervention and control groups at the first time point closest to immediately after the end of treatment, at 6 weeks post-intervention, and at 12 weeks postintervention.

Primary outcomes

We will extract data for the following primary outcomes.

- **Emotional well-being** (continuous data, measured with, for example, the Profile of Mood States scale (McNair 1971))
- **Quality of life** (continuous data, measured with, for example, the EuroQoL-5D)
- Anxiety (continuous data, measured with, for example, the Generalised Anxiety Disorder-7, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; if trials only present dichotomous data, we will contact authors of trials for the raw data, with the aim of converting it to continuous data)
- **Depression** (continuous data, measured with, for example, the Patient Health Questionnaire-9, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale, Beck Depression Inventory; if trials only present dichotomous data, we will contact authors of trials for the raw data, with the aim of converting them to continuous outcomes)
- Adverse events (dichotomous data, measured with, for example, withdrawals, the number of people admitted to hospital, or the number of deaths due to suicide)

Secondary outcomes

We will extract data for the following secondary outcomes.

- **Participant satisfaction** (continuous data, measured with, for example, the numerical rating scale)
- **Symptom burden** (e.g. pain, fatigue, or other outcomes as reported in trials; continuous data, measured with, for example, the numerical rating scales, verbal rating scales, or visual analogue scales)

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We will search the following databases without date or language restrictions. We will seek translation assistance when needed.

- The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL; in the Cochrane Library; latest issue)
- MEDLINE Ovid (1946 to present)
- Pubmed
- Embase Ovid (1974 to present)
- PsycINFO EBSCO (1806 to present)
- CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature; 1937 to present)

We will tailor searches to individual databases. The search strategy for MEDLINE is in Appendix 1.

The search strategy was developed by the Cochrane Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care (PaPaS) Review Group's Information Specialist and was independently peer-reviewed. An information specialist at the University of the West of England has agreed to perform the searches.

Adverse events

We will not perform a separate search for adverse events of the target intervention(s). We will only consider adverse events described in the included studies.

Searching other resources

We will search clinicaltrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov) and the World Health Organization International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP; http://apps.who.int/trialsearch/) for ongoing trials or completed trials not yet published in a peer-reviewed journal. We will also search for grey literature (i.e. recent conference proceedings), check reference lists of identified reviews and included studies for additional studies, and perform citation searches on key articles. We will contact experts in the field for unpublished and ongoing trials. We will contact study authors for additional information when necessary.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

We will use Rayyan to manage search results and screen the references (Ouzzani 2016). Three review authors, in pairs (SJ, DC, DM), will independently determine the eligibility of each study identified by the search. They will eliminate studies that clearly do not satisfy inclusion criteria, and will obtain full copies of the remaining reports. Three review authors (SJ, DC, DM) will independently read these reports to select relevant studies. In the event of disagreement, a fourth review author will adjudicate (BC). All review authors will agree on all the included studies. We will not anonymise the studies in any way before assessment. We will include a PRISMA flowchart in the full review (Liberati 2009). We will include studies regardless of whether they reported outcome data we can use in analysis.

Data extraction and management

Three review authors, in pairs (SJ, DC, DM), will independently extract data using a standard piloted form, and check for agreement before entry into Review Manager (RevMan 2024). In the event of disagreement, a fourth review author will adjudicate (BC). We will collate multiple reports of the same study, so that each study, rather than each report, is the unit of interest in the review. We will collect characteristics of the included studies in sufficient detail to complete the characteristics of included studies tables in the full review.

We will extract the following information.

- Methods: study design, total duration of study, details of any runin period (if applicable), number of study centres and location, study setting, and date of study
- Participants: number randomised, number lost to follow-up/ withdrawn, number analysed, mean age, age range, gender, severity of condition, diagnostic criteria, inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria, and other characteristics that are provided
- Interventions: intervention, comparison, concomitant medications/treatment, and excluded medications
- Outcomes: outcomes specified and collected, and time points reported
- Notes: funding for trial and notable conflicts of interest of trial authors; information needed to assess bias
- Information needed to assess GRADE (e.g. baseline risk in the control group for key outcomes)

Template for intervention description and replication (TiDieR checklist)

We will use the TiDieR checklist to help provide completeness in the reporting of psychological therapies (Hoffman 2014). A summary of the items in the checklist are:

- Name or phrase that describes the intervention;
- Description of the rationale, theory, or goal of the elements essential to the intervention;
- Description of any physical or informational materials used in the intervention, including those provided to participants or used in intervention delivery or in training of intervention providers;
- Description of each procedure, activities, and processes used in the intervention, including any enabling or support activities;
- Description of expertise, background, and specific training of the intervention provider, if provided;
- Mode of delivery of intervention and whether it was provided individually or in a group;
- Type of location where the intervention occurred, including any necessary infrastructure or relevant features;
- Number of times the intervention was delivered and over what period of time, including number of sessions, schedule, duration, intensity, or dose;
- Tailoring of intervention, e.g. planning of personalisation, titrated or adapted, and description of what, why, when and how;
- Modification of intervention during the course of the study, description of the changes (what, why, when and how);

- Assessment of intervention adherence or fidelity, description of how and by whom, and if any strategies were used to maintain or improve fidelity, and description;
- Description of the extent to which the intervention was delivered as planned.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

We will assess risk of bias using the Cochrane RoB 1 tool for randomised trials. Three review authors, in pairs (SJ, DC, DM), will independently assess the risk of bias for each study using the criteria outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011). Disagreements will be resolved by discussion, or by consulting with a fourth review author (BC). We will complete a risk of bias table for each included study in Review Manager (RevMan 2024).

We will assess the following biases for each included study.

- Random sequence generation (checking for possible selection bias). We will assess the method used to generate the allocation sequence as:
 - low risk of bias (any truly random process; e.g. random number table, computer random number generator);
 - unclear risk of bias (insufficient detail about the method of randomisation to be able to judge);
 - high risk of bias (studies using a non-random process, e.g. odd or even date of birth; hospital or clinic record number).
- Allocation concealment (checking for possible selection bias). The method used to conceal allocation to interventions prior to assignment determines whether intervention allocation could have been foreseen in advance of, or during recruitment, or changed after assignment. We will assess the methods as:
 - low risk of bias (e.g. telephone or central randomisation, consecutively numbered sealed opaque envelopes);
 - uncertain risk of bias (insufficient detail about the method of randomisation to be able to judge);
 - high risk of bias (studies that do not conceal allocation, e.g. open list).
- Blinding of participants and personnel (checking for performance bias). We will assess the methods used to blind study participants and personnel from the knowledge of which intervention a participant received. We will assess the methods as:
 - low risk of bias (the study states that it is blinded and describes the method used to achieve blinding);
 - unclear risk of bias (the study states that it was blinded but did not provide an adequate description of how this was achieved);
 - high risk of bias (the study states that it was not blinded to the intervention received).
- Blinding of outcome assessment (checking for possible detection bias). We will assess the methods used to blind outcome assessors from knowledge of which intervention a participant received. We will assess the methods as:
- low risk of bias (the study has a clear statement that outcome assessors were unaware of treatment allocation, and ideally describes how this was achieved);
- unclear risk of bias (the study states that outcome assessors were blind to treatment allocation but lacked a clear statement on how it was achieved);

Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol) Copyright © 2024 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- high risk of bias (the study states that outcome assessors were not blinded to treatment allocation).
- Incomplete outcome data (checking for possible attrition bias due to the amount, nature, and handling of incomplete outcome data). We will assess the methods used to deal with incomplete data as:
- low risk (no missing outcome data; reasons for missing outcome data unlikely to be related to true outcome (for survival data, censoring unlikely to be introducing bias); missing outcome data balanced in numbers across intervention groups, with similar reasons for missing data across groups; missing data has been imputed using baseline observation carried forward analysis);
- unclear risk of bias (insufficient reporting of attrition/ exclusions to permit a judgement of low risk or high risk (e.g. number randomised not stated, no reasons for missing data provided, or the study did not address this outcome));
- high risk of bias (reason for missing outcome data is likely to be related to true outcome, with either imbalance in numbers or reasons for missing data across intervention groups; as-treated analysis done with substantial departure of the intervention received from that assigned at randomisation; potentially inappropriate application of simple imputation).

• Selective reporting (checking for reporting bias). We will assess reporting biases due to selective outcome reporting. We will judge studies as:

- low risk of bias (study protocol is available, and all the study's prespecified (primary and secondary) outcomes that are of interest to the review have been reported in the prespecified way);
- unclear risk of bias (insufficient information available to permit a judgement of low risk or high risk);
- high risk of bias (not all the study's prespecified primary outcomes have been reported; one or more primary outcomes have been reported using measurements, analysis methods, or subsets of the data (e.g. subscales) that were not prespecified; one or more reported primary outcomes were not prespecified (unless clear justification for their reporting is provided, such as an unexpected adverse effect); one or more outcomes of interest to the review have been reported incompletely so that they cannot be entered in a metaanalysis; the study report failed to include results for a key outcome that would be expected to be reported for such a study).

Measures of treatment effect

We anticipate that outcomes of interest will be reported by study authors as continuous data. We will extract and analyse such data when reported. We will evaluate treatment effects for continuous data as mean differences (MD) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) when multiple studies report a common measure. We will evaluate treatment effects for continuous data as standardised mean differences (SMDs) and 95% CIs when there are different scales measuring an outcome, thus requiring standardisation to a uniform scale before they can be combined. We will interpret effect sizes as small (0.2), moderate (0.5), and large (0.8), according to Cohen (Cohen 1988). We will ensure that all scales are measuring their effect in the same direction, and we will convert any that run counter to others (e.g. a high value for a scale indicates a poorer outcome for the participant and a low value indicates a good outcome).

If trials report outcomes as dichotomous data (e.g. anxiety and depression), we will convert the data to continuous outcomes. We will contact authors for raw data, specifically the scales on which clinical cut points are imposed.

We will extract dichotomous data for adverse events should they be reported in studies, and present them as risk ratios (RRs) with 95% Cls.

If data in an RCT are not reported in a format that can be entered directly into a meta-analysis, we will convert them to the required format as described in the *Cochrane Handbook* (Higgins 2023a).

Unit of analysis issues

We expect that studies will randomise participants at the individual level, and most studies will allocate each participant to a single intervention for comparison with one or more alternative interventions (i.e. parallel design).

If we identify studies in which the participant is allocated to a sequence of interventions (i.e. a randomised controlled trial with a cross-over design), we will include such studies if there is a sufficient gap between the first phase treatment and the second phase treatment (wash-out period), and a correlation coefficient statistic between both phases has been accounted for. If this information is not available, we will only include data from the first phase, before the cross-over occurs, as we would be unaware of carry-over effects of the intervention before the cross-over into the second phase.

Cluster-randomised controlled trials involve randomisation of groups of individuals to different interventions, where the unit of allocation is the group of individuals or cluster (e.g. hospitals, medical practices). We will only include cluster-randomised controlled trials if they have been adjusted to account for clustering. Should we find cluster randomised controlled trials, we will follow guidance provided in the *Cochrane Handbook* (Higgins 2023b).

If a study includes three or more intervention arms of interest, or control groups, or both, we will separate the arms into intervention and control groups. We will split the control group across the intervention arms to avoid double counting.

Dealing with missing data

If outcome data are missing, we will contact study authors, investigators, or study sponsors to request them (e.g. studies reporting only a P value, a statement of statistical significance, or only the direction of effect). If we are unable to obtain the data, we will use available data to calculate the necessary data (e.g. standard deviations from confidence intervals), according to the *Cochrane Handbook* (Higgins 2023a). We will not impute missing variables in analyses when outcome data are not available or calculable. If it is not possible to obtain missing data, and we think the missing data will introduce serious bias, we will explore the impact of including such studies in the meta-analysis through a sensitivity analysis.

If both per protocol and intention-to-treat analyses are presented in published manuscripts, we will extract intention-to-treat data in preference to per-protocol data.

Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol) Copyright © 2024 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will pool data using meta-analysis when studies are considered to be methodological or clinically similar enough, based on populations, interventions, or other factors, and provided there are two or more studies in the meta-analysis. We will assess the degree of statistical heterogeneity by examining Tau² and the Chi² test with a significance level at P < 0.1, and visually examining forest plots to consider the direction and magnitude of effects and the degree of overlap between CIs. We will quantify possible heterogeneity by using the I² statistic, according to these thresholds, reported in the *Cochrane Handbook* (Deeks 2023):

- 0% to 40%; might not be important;
- 30% to 60%: may represent moderate heterogeneity;
- 50% to 90%; may represent substantial heterogeneity;
- 75% to 100%; considerable heterogeneity.

When the I^2 is at a moderate, substantial, or considerable (i.e. 50% or more) level of heterogeneity, we will interpret this value according to the size and direction of effect, and the strength of the evidence for heterogeneity, based on the P value derived from the Chi² test, or the confidence interval for I^2 (uncertainty in the value of I^2 is substantial when the number of studies is small (Deeks 2023)). We will explore causes of heterogeneity through subgroup analyses (Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity).

We will not pool results if there is substantial clinical diversity (e.g. variation in type of interventions) or methodological differences (e.g. variation in study design or outcome measurement tools) amongst included studies, or inconsistency in the direction of effect. We will not report pooled results from a meta-analysis, but will instead use a descriptive approach to data synthesis (i.e. SWiM (McKenzie 2023)).

Assessment of reporting biases

We will assess reporting biases as part of the risk of bias assessment in this review. We will also assess funnel plots according to guidance in the *Cochrane Handbook*, provided there are at least 10 studies included in each meta-analysis (Page 2023).

Data synthesis

Meta-analysis of numerical data

We will analyse data using Review Manager (RevMan 2024). We will analyse outcome data using a random-effects model. We will only perform meta-analysis when it is clinically or methodologically meaningful to do so, that is, if two or more studies are sufficiently homogeneous for participants, interventions, and outcomes.

Based on judgement, discussion, and reference to published clinical guidance, we will combine psychological interventions in analyses, provided they are clinically similar, or the mechanisms of action are similar. We will combine usual care, and waiting list control groups, as these are likely to be similar. When it is not possible to meta-analyse data, we will describe the findings from studies. The following comparisons are examples for analysis:

- Psychological intervention versus usual care, or waiting list (up to 4 weeks post-treatment);
- Psychological intervention versus active control (up to 4 weeks post-treatment);

- Psychological intervention versus usual care, or waiting list (between 4 and 12 weeks post-treatment);
- Psychological intervention versus active control (between 4 and 12 weeks post-treatment);
- Psychological intervention versus usual care, or waiting list (between 12 and 26 weeks post-treatment);
- Psychological intervention versus active control (between 12 and 26 weeks post-treatment).

We will use the same duration thresholds for other psychological interventions that we identify in the included studies.

Synthesis using other methods

We plan to use SWiM guidance if data cannot be included in meta-analyses for a prespecified comparison due to clinical or methodological differences. We will present the available effects using tables, or describe results narratively using this approach (McKenzie 2023).

- Grouping studies for synthesis: description of, and rationale for, the groups used in synthesis (e.g. grouping of populations, interventions, outcomes, study design); detail and rationale for any changes made after the protocol, in the groups used in the synthesis
- Description of standard metric and transformation methods used (e.g. for each outcome, why the metric was chosen and methods used to transform intervention effects, as reported in the study, to the standard metric, citing any methodological guidance consulted)
- Description of synthesis methods: description and justification of methods used to synthesise effects for each outcome when it was not possible to undertake meta-analysis for effect estimates
- Criteria for prioritising results for summary and synthesis: description of criteria used with supporting justification, to select particular studies, or study, for main synthesis, or to draw conclusions from the synthesis (e.g. based on study design, risk of bias assessments, directness in relation to the review question)
- Heterogeneity in reported effects: methods used to examine heterogeneity in reported effects when it is not possible to conduct meta-analysis for effect estimates, and its extensions to investigate heterogeneity
- Certainty: description of methods used to assess certainty of the synthesis findings
- Presentation of data: describe graphical and tabular methods to present direction of effects (e.g. effect direction plot); specific key study characteristics (e.g. study design, risk of bias) used to order studies, in text, tables or graphs, clearly referencing the studies included
- Reporting results: description of synthesised findings for each comparison and outcome, and certainty of findings. Describe using language consistent with the question the synthesis addresses, and indicate which studies contribute to the synthesis.
- Discussion: report limitations of the synthesis methods and groupings used in the synthesis, and how these affect the conclusions that can be drawn in relation to the original review question

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We plan to conduct subgroup analyses that are clinically meaningful and informative. Provided that at least 10 eligible studies are available, we will explore these subgroups.

- Delivery of intervention (e.g. individual versus group). The rationale for considering these subgroups is that interventions delivered individually or in a group may have different effects on outcomes. From a mechanistic, and for subsequent economic purposes, this information will be useful to health professionals when considering intervention delivery options, and for health service providers when considering the most cost-effective intervention options for people with advanced progressive life-limiting illness.
- Type of intervention (e.g. CBT versus third wave interventions versus supportive expressive interventions). The rationale for considering these subgroups is that interventions with different underlying mechanisms of action may have different effects on outcomes. This information will be useful to health professionals when considering intervention options for people with advanced progressive life-limiting illness.

We plan to explore these outcomes in subgroup analyses.

- Emotional well-being
- Quality of life
- Anxiety
- Depression
- Adverse events

Sensitivity analysis

We plan to conduct the following sensitivity analyses using the 'investigate sensitivity' function in Review Manager to assess the consistency of results when different studies are removed from the analyses:

- Excluding studies judged to be at high risk of bias (in any domain), to determine whether their exclusion alters the findings
- Excluding studies with fewer than 50 participants, to determine whether their exclusion alters the findings
- Excluding outlier studies in cases where there is substantial heterogeneity in analyses (I² above 75%) to determine whether their exclusion alters the findings
- Excluding studies with missing data (e.g. lack of intention-totreat) to determine whether their exclusion alters the findings

Summary of findings and assessment of the certainty of the evidence

Three review authors, in pairs (SJ, DC, DM), will independently rate the certainty of the body of evidence for the outcomes, with disagreements resolved by discussion or involving a fourth review author (BC). We will justify, document, and incorporate judgements into the reporting of results for each outcome. We will use the GRADE system to rank the certainty of the evidence using GRADEpro GDT software (GRADEpro GDT), and the guidelines provided in the *Cochrane Handbook* (Schünemann 2023).

The GRADE approach uses five considerations (study limitations (risk of bias), unexplained heterogeneity and inconsistency of

effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the certainty of the body of evidence for each outcome. Based on the GRADE assessment, we will assign the certainty of evidence.

- High: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.
- Moderate: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate; the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.
- Low: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited; the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.
- Very low: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate; the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

The GRADE system considers study design as a marker of quality. Randomised controlled trials are considered to be high quality of evidence and can be downgraded for important limitations.

These factors may decrease the certainty of a body of evidence by at least one level.

- Serious or very serious study limitations (risk of bias)
- Important or serious inconsistency of results
- Some or major indirectness of evidence
- Serious or very serious imprecision
- Probability of publication bias

We plan to include at least three summary of findings tables to present the main findings for each psychological intervention (e.g. CBT) compared to a usual care and waiting list control group, an active control group, and another psychological intervention group. We will include key information concerning certainty of the evidence, the magnitude of effect of the interventions examined, and the sum of available data on the key outcomes including emotional well-being, quality of life, anxiety, depression, and adverse events.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Cochrane Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care (PaPaS) supported the authors in the development of this Cochrane protocol.

We are grateful to Joanne Abbott, the Information Specialist with the Cochrane Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care review group who designed the search strategy

We are grateful to the following peer reviewers for their time and comments: Dr Stirling Moorey (retired consultant psychiatrist in cognitive behaviour therapy; clinical/content review), Mr Michael-Dharma Irwin (MA, Department of Human Services, Arlington County, Virginia; clinical/content review), and Emeritus Professor Sam H Ahmedzai FRCP, University of Sheffield (clinical/content review).

Acknowledgements from the authors

The review authors would like to thank Dr Matthew Brown (Consultant Clinical Psychologist and Clinical Lead UCLH) and Dr Guy Maissis (University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust) who were involved in the PICO inclusion criteria discussions, and provided contacts in palliative care. We would also like to thank



Drs Lianne Hovell (clinical psychologist, Barts Health NHS Trust and Tower Hamlets Community Psychology: palliative and end of life care) and Ruth Allen (lead psychologist end of life care, Barts Health NHS Trust)) for providing clinical input on the background, PICO inclusion criteria, and overall comments of the protocol. Thank you to Joana Johnson, Syd Hiskey, Amanda Williams, Emma Fisher for providing their knowledge on search terms and advice about psychological treatments in the protocol development phase, and Dr Alison Llewellyn and Professor Fiona Cramp (University of the West of England, Bristol) for their knowledge on palliative and end of life care and input on the methodology.

Editorial contributions

The following people conducted the editorial process for this article:

Sign-off Editor (final editorial decision): Toby Lasserson, Cochrane Central Editorial Unit

Managing Editor (reviewed authors' rebuttal document, provided editorial guidance to authors, edited the article): Anupa Shah, Cochrane Central Editorial Service

Copy Editor (copy-editing and production): Victoria Pennick, Cochrane Central Production Service



REFERENCES

Additional references

Allen 2003

Allen RS, Kwak J, Lokken KL, Haley WE. End-of-life issues in the context of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Care Quarterly* 2003;**4**(4):312-30. [DOI: 10.1901/jaba.2003.4-312]

Almada 2018

Almada A, Casquinha P, Cotovio V, Heitor dos Santos MJ, Caixeiro A. The potential role of psychosocial rehabilitation in palliative care. *Journal of the Royal College of Physicians Edinburgh* 2018;**48**(4):311-7. [DOI: 10.4997/JRCPE.2018.405]

Amblàs-Novellas 2016

Amblàs-Novellas J, Murray SA, Espaulella J, Martori JC, Oller R, Martinez-Muñoz M, et al. Identifying patients with advanced chronic conditions for progressive palliative care approach: a cross-sectional study of prognostic indicators to end-oflife trajectories. *BMJ Open* 2016;**6**:e012340. [DOI: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2016-012340]

Anderson 2008

Anderson T, Watson M, Davidson R. The use of cognitive behavioural therapy techniques for anxiety and depression in hospice patients: a feasibility study. *Palliative Medicine* 2008;**22**:814-21. [DOI: 10.1177/0269216308095157]

Bandura 1977

Bandura A. Social Learning Theory. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall, 1977.

Bausewein 2011

Buasewein C, Le Grice C, Simon ST, Higginson IJ, on behalf of PRISMA. The use of two common palliative outcome measures in clinical care and research: a systematic review of POS and STAS. *Palliative Medicine* 2011;**25**(4):304-13. [DOI: 10.1177/0269216310395984]

Bayly 2021

Bayly J, Bone AE, Ellis-Smith C, Tunnard I, Yaqub S, Yi D et al. Common elements of service delivery models that promise quality of life and health service use among older people with advanced progressive conditions: a tertiary systematic review. *BMJ Open* 2021;**11**:e048417. [DOI: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-048417]

Beck 1979

Beck AT, Rush AJ, Shaw BF, Emery G. Cognitive Therapy of Depression. New York: Guildford Press, 1979.

Bergin 1975

Bergin AE, Suinn RM. Individual psychotherapy and behaviour therapy. *Annual Review of Psychology* 1975;**26**:509-56.

Berne 1961

Berne E. Transactional Analysis in Psychotherapy. New York: Grove Press, 1961.

BPS 2020

British Psychological Society. Talking about death – end-oflife care guidance for the psychological workforce. https:// cms.bps.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-06/Talking%20about %20death%20-%20end%20of%20life%20care%20guidance %20for%20the%20psychological%20workforce.pdf 2020.

Bradt 2021

Bradt J, Dileo C, Myers-Coffman K, Biondo J. Music interventions for improving psychological and physical outcomes in people with cancer. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 10. Art. No: CD006911. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006911.pub4]

Breitbart 2015

Breitbart W, Ronsenfeld B, Pessin H, Applebaum A, Kulikowski J, Lichtenthal WG. Meaning-centred group psychotherapy: an effective intervention for improving psychological well-being in patients with advanced cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2015;**33**(7):749-54. [DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2014.57.2198]

British Association of Art Therapists 2022

What to expect when you start art therapy. Available at https://baat.org/art-therapy/what-to-expect-when-you-start-art-therapy/ (accessed 23 November 2022).

Butler 1974

Butler RN. Succesful aging and the role of the life reviewer. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 1974;**22**(12):529-35. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1974.tb04823.x]

Cain 2002

Cain DJ, Seeman J. Humanistic Psychotherapies: Handbook of Research and Practice. Washington DC: American Psycholoigcal Association, 2002.

Candy 2012

Candy B, Jones L, Varagunam M, Speck P, Tookman A, King M. Spiritual and religious interventions for well-being of adults in the terminal phase of disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2012, Issue 5. Art. No: CD007544. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007544.pub2]

Carduff 2018

Carduff E, Johnston S, Winstanley C, Morrish J, Murray SA, Spiller J, et al. What does 'complex' mean in palliative care? Triangulating qualitative findings from 3 settings. *BMC Palliative Care* 2018;**17**:12. [DOI: 10.1186/s12904-017-0259-z]

Chamlou 2024

Chamlou N. What is psychodynamic therapy? Available at https://www.psychology.org/resources/what-ispsychodynamic-therapy/ (accessed 13 September 2024).

Chen 2014

Chen EK, Riffin C, Reid MC, Adelman R, Warmington M, Mehta SS, et al. Why is high-quality research on palliative care so hard to do? Barriers to improved research from a survey



of palliative care researchers. *Journal of Palliative Medicine* 2014;**17**(7):782-7. [DOI: 10.1089/jpm.2013.0589]

Chochinov 2011

Chochinov HM, Kristjanson LJ, Breitbart W, McClement S, Hack TF, Hassard TH, et al. The effect of dignity therapy on distress and end-of-life experience in terminally ill patients: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Oncology* 2011;**12**(8):753-62. [DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70153-X]

Cohen 1988

Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis in the Behavioural Sciences. 2nd edition. Hillsdale (NJ): Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc., 1988.

Cohen-Mansfield 2018

Cohen-Mansfield K, Skornick-Bouchbinder M, Brill S. Trajectories of end of life: a systematic review. *Journals of Gerontology: Psychological Sciences* 2018;**73**(4):564-72. [DOI: 10.1093/geronb/gbx093]

Cramp 2013

Cramp F, Bennett MI. Development of a generic working definition of 'supportive care'. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care* 2013;3(1):53-60. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2012-000222]

Davies 2010

Davies P, Hunot V, Moore TH, Caldwell D, Jones H, Lewis G, et al. Humanistic therapies versus treatment as usual for depression. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2010, Issue 9. Art. No: CD008701. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008701]

De Witte 2021

De Witte M, Orkibi H, Zarate R, Karkou V, Sajnani N, Malhotra B, et al. From therapeutic factors to mechanisms of change in the creative arts therapies: a scoping review. *Frontiers in Psychology* 2021;**12**:678397. [DOI: 10.3380/fpsyg.2021.678397]

Deeks 2023

Deeks JJ, Higgins JP, Altman DG. Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated October 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Dolan 2021

Dolan H, Eggett C, Holliday L, Delves S, Parkes D, Sutherland K. Virtual care in end of life and palliative care: a rapid evidence check. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare* 2021;**27**(10):631-7. [DOI: 10.1177/1357633X211046118]

Ellis 2015

Ellis J, Cobb M, O'Connor T, Dunn L, Irving G, Lloyd-Williams M. The meaning of suffering in patients with advanced cancer. *Chronic Illness* 2015;**11**(3):198-209. [DOI: 10.1177/1742395314565720]

ESMO 2021

European Society for Medical Oncology. Clinical practice guidelines: supportive and palliative care. Available at https://

www.esmo.org/guidelines/supportive-and-palliative-care/careat-the-end-of-life (accessed February 2022).

Evans 2013

Evans CJ, Benalia H, Preston NJ, Grande G, Gysels M, Short V, et al. The selection and use of outcome measures in palliative and end-of-life care research: the MORECare international consensus workshop. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management* 2013;**46**(6):925-37. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jpainsymman.2013.01.010]

Faraji 2015

Faraji M. The effectiveness of dialectical behaviour therapy (DBT) in reducing distress and increased life expectancy in patients with breast cancer. *Cumhuriyet Üniversitesi Fen Edebiyat Fakültesi Fen Bilimleri Dergisi* 2015;**36**(3):1340-6.

Finucane 2021

Finucane AM, O'Donnell H, Lugton J, Gibson-Watt T, Swenson C, Pagliari C. Digital health interventions in palliative care: a systematic meta-review. *NPJ Digital Medicine* 2021;**4**(1):64.

Fonagy 2020

Fonagy P, Lemma A, Target M, O'Keeffe S, Constantinou MP, Wurman TV, et al. Dynamic interpersonal therapy for moderate to severe depression: a pilot randomized controlled and feasibility trial. *Psychological Medicine* 2020;**50**(6):1010-9. [DOI: 10.1017/S0033291719000928]

Fraguell 2018

Fraguell C, Limonero JT, Gil F. Psychological aspects of meaning-centred group psychotherapy: Spanish experience. *Palliative Supportive Care* 2017;**16**:317-24. [DOI: 10.1017/ S1478951517000293]

Freud 1949

Freud S. An Outline of Psychoanalysis. London: Hogarth Press, 1949.

Gilbert 2009

Gilbert P. Introducing compassion-focused therapy. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment 2009;**15**(3):199-208. [DOI: 10.1192/apt.bp.107.005264]

GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

GRADEpro GDT. Version (accessed after August 2024). Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), 2024. Available at gradepro.org.

Greer 2012

Greer JA, Traeger L, Bemis H, Solis J, Hendriksen ES, Park ER, et al. A pilot randomised controlled trial of brief cognitive-behavioural therapy for anxiety in patients with terminal cancer. *Oncologist* 2012;**17**:1337-45. [DOI: 10.1634/ theoncologist.2012-0041]

Guzmán-Castellanos 2016

Guzmán-Castellanos S, Cortés-Ibáñez FO, Allende-Perez S. Palliative care, impact of cognitive behavioural therapy to cancer patients. *Procedia-Social and Behavioural Sciences* 2016;**217**:1063-70. [DOI: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.02.110]



Hayes 2017

Hayes SC, Hofmann SG. The third wave of cognitive behavioral therapy and the rise of process-based care. *World Psychiatry* 2017;**16**(3):245-6. [DOI: 10.1002/wps.20442]

Hersoug 2014

Hersoug AG, Ulberg R, Høglend P. When is transference work useful in psychodynamic psychotherapy? Main results of the first experimental study of transference work (FEST). *Contemporary Psychoanalysis* 2014;**50**(1-2):156-74. [DOI: 10.1080/00107530.2014.880314]

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Sterne JAC (editors). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from training.cochrane.org/ handbook/archive/v5.1/.

Higgins 2023a

Higgins JP, Li T, Deeks JJ. Chapter 6: Choosing effect measures and computing estimates of effect. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated October 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Higgins 2023b

HIggins JP, Eldridge S, Li T. Chapter 23: including variants on randomised trials. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated October 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Hobson 1977

Hobson RF. A conversational model of psychotherapy. Association of University Teachers of Psychiatry Newsletter 1977.

Hoffman 2014

Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ* 2014;**348**:g1687. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.g1687]

Hofmann 2008

Hofmann SG, Asmundson GJ. Acceptance and mindfulnessbased therapy: new wave or old hat? *Clinical Psychology Review* 2008;**28**(1):1-16. [DOI: 10.1016/j.cpr.2007.09.003]

Hong 2022

Hong Y, Yuhan L, Youhui G, Zhanying W, Shili Z, Xiaoting H, et al. Death anxiety among advanced cancer patients: a cross-sectional survey. *Supportive Care in Cancer* 2022;**30**:3531-9. [DOI: 10.1007/s00520-022-06795-z]

Huber 2013

Huber D, Heinrich G, Clarkin J, Klug G. Psychoanalytic versus psychodynamic therapy for depression: a three year follow-up study. *Psychiatry* 2013;**76**(2):132-49.

Hulbert-Williams 2021

Hulbert-Williams NJ, Hulbert-Williams L, Patterson P, Suleman S, Howells L. Acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT)-enhanced communication skills: development and evaluation of a novel training programme. BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care 2021 March 24 [Epub ahead of print]. [DOI: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2020-002786]

lm 2019

Im J, Mak S, Upshur R, Steinberg L, Kuluski K. "Whatever happens, happens" challenges of end-of-life communication from the perspective of older adults and family caregivers: a qualitative study. *BMC Palliative Care* 2019;**18**(113):1-9. [DOI: 10.1186/s12904-019-0493-7]

Ingham 2020

Ingham G, Katakin U. How confident are we at assessing and managing fatigue in palliative care patients? *Palliative Medicine Reports* 2020;**1**(1):58-65. [DOI: 10.1089/pmr.2020.0005]

Jacob 2013

Jacob GA, Arntz A. Schema therapy for personality disorders: a review. *International Journal of Cognitive Therapy* 2013;**6**(2):171-85. [DOI: 10.1521/ijct.2013.6.2.171]

Jung 1963

Jung CG, Jaffe A, Winston C. Memories, Dreams, Reflections. London: Collins; Routledge & K Paul, 1963.

Kabat-Zinn 1990

Kabat-Zinn J. Full Catastrophe Living: Using the Wisdom of Your Body and Mind to Face Stress, Pain, and Illness. New York: Dell Publishing, 1990.

Kazdin 2008

Kazdin AE. Evidence-based treatment and practice: new opportunities to bridge clinical research and practice, enhance the knowledge base, and improve patient care. *American Psychologist* 2008;**63**(3):146-59. [DOI: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.3.146]

Klein 1960

Klein M. Our Adult World and Its Roots in Infancy. London: Tavistock, 1960.

Koslov 2018

Koslov E, Niknejad B, Reid MC. Palliative care gaps in providing psychological treatment: a review of the current state of research in multidisciplinary palliative care. *American Journal of Hospice and Palliative Medicine* 2018;**35**(3):505-10. [DOI: 10.1177/1049909117723860]

Köhler 2017

Köhler S, Guhn A, Betzler F, Stiglmayr C, Brakemeier EL, Sterzer P. Therapeutic self-disclosure within DBT, schema



therapy and CBASP: opportunities and challenges. *Frontiers in Psychology* 2017;**8**:2073. [DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02073]

Lazarus 1971

Lazarus AA. Behavior Therapy and Beyond. McGraw-Hill, 1971.

Lee 2020

Lee J-H. Existential issues and psychosocial interventions in palliative care. *Korean Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care* 2020;**23**(4):167-71. [DOI: 10.14475/kjhpc.2020.23.4.167]

Lemma 2013

Lemma A, Target M, Fonagy P. Dynamic interpersonal therapy (DIT): developing a new psychodynamic intervention for the treatment of depression. *Psychoanalytic Inquiry* 2013;**33**(6):552-66. [DOI: 10.1080/07351690.2013.815092]

Liberati 2009

Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Medicine* 2009;**6**(7):e1000100. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b2700]

Limonero 2018

Limonero JT, Reverte MA, Gómez-Romero MJ, Gil-Moncayo F. The role of emotions in palliative care. *Palliative Medicine and Hospice Care* 2018;**4**(1):7-9. [DOI: 10.17140/PMHCOJ-4-127]

Low 2016

Low J, Serfaty M, Davis S, Vickerstaff V, Gola A, Omar RZ, et al. Acceptance and commitment therapy for adults with advanced cancer (CanACT): study protocol for a feasibility randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2016;**17**:77. [DOI: 10.1186/s13063-016-1169-8]

Luborsky 1984

Luborsky 1984. Principles of Psychoanalytic Psychotherapy: A Manual for Supportive-Expressive Treatment. New York: Basic Books, 1984.

Maca-Lallana 2021

Meca-Lallana V, Berenguer-Ruiz L, Carreres-Polo J, Eichau-Madueño S, Ferrer-Lozano J, Forero L, et al. Deciphering multiple sclerosis progression. *Frontiers in Neurology* 2021;**12**:608491. [DOI: 10.3389/fneur.2021.608491]

Markowitz 1998

Markowitz JC, Svartberg M, Swartz HA. Is IPT time-limited psychodynamic psychotherapy? *Journal of Psychotherapy Practice and Research* 1998;**7**(3):185-95. [PMID: 3330506]

Marks 1981

Marks IM. Cure and Care of Neuroses: Theory and Practice of Behavioural Psychotherapy. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, 1981.

Maslow 1943

Maslow AH. A theory of human motivation. *Psychological Review* 1943;**50**:270-96.

Maslow 1970

Maslow AH. Motivation and Personality. New York: Harper & Row, 1970.

May 1961

May R. Existential psychology. New York: Random House, 1961.

May 2016

May JM, Richardi TM, Barth KS. Dialectical behavior therapy as treatment for borderline personality disorder. *Mental Health Clinician* 2016;**6**(2):62-7. [DOI: 10.9740/mhc.2016.03.62]

McCarthy 1981

McCarthy JB. Psychoanalytic psychotherapy and the fear of death. *American Journal of Psychoanalysis* 1981;**41**(1):21-30. [DOI: 10.1007/BF01253037]

McKenzie 2023

McKenzie JE, Brennan SE. Chapter 12: Synthesising and presenting findings using other methods. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated October 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

McNair 1971

McNair D, Lorr M, Droppleman L. Manual for the profile of mood states. San Diego (Calif): Educational and Industrial Testing Service, 1971.

Mistry 2015

Mistry B, Bainbridge D, Bryant D, Toyofuku ST, Seow H. What matters most for end-of-life care? Perspectives from community-based palliative care providers and administrators. *BMJ Open* 2015;**5**:e007492. [DOI: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2014-007492]

Moorey 1996

Moorey S. Cognitive behaviour therapy for whom? *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment* 1996;**2**:17-23.

Murray 2005

Murray SA, Kendall M, Boyd K, Sheikh. Illness trajectories and palliative care. *BMJ* 2005;**330**:1007-11.

Nazanin 2021

Alavi N, Stephenson C, Soares C. Developing and implementing a web-based psychotherapy program to address mental health challenges among patients receiving oncologic and palliative care: protocol for an open-label randomised controlled trial. JMIR Research Protocols 2021;**10**(7):e30735.

NICE 2004

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Improving supportive and palliative care for adults with cancer (CSG4). https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/csg4 (accessed 13 September 2024).

NICE 2019

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). End of life care for adults: service delivery (NG142). https://



www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng142/chapter/Context (accessed 13 September 2024).

Ouzzani 2016

Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan – a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. *Systematic Reviews* 2016;**5**:210. [DOI: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4]

Page 2023

Page MJ, Higgins JP, Sterne JA. Chapter 13: assessing risk of bias due to missing results in a synthesis. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated October 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Park 2020

Park S, Song H. The art experiences of patients and their family members in hospice palliative care. *Korean Journal of Hospice and Palliative Care* 2020;**23**(4):183-97. [DOI: 10.14475/kjhpc.2020.23.4.183]

Payne 2022

Payne S, Harding A, Williams T, Ling J, Ostgathe C. Revised recommendations on standards and norms for palliative care in Europe from the European Association for Pallative Care (EAPC): a delphi study. *Palliative Medicine* 2022;**36**(4):680-97. [DOI: 10.1177/02692163221074547]

Perls 1976

Perls F. Gestalt Approach and Eye Witness to Therapy. New York: Bantam Books, 1976.

Pitman 2020

Pitman SR, Knauss DP. Contemporary psychodynamic approaches to treating anxiety: theory, research, and practice. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology* 2020;**1191**:451-64. [DOI: 10.1007/978-981-32-9705-0_23]

Price 2009

Price A, Hotopf M. The treatment of depression in patients with advanced cancer undergoing palliative care. *Current Opinion in Supportive and Palliative Care* 2009;**3**(1):61-6. [DOI: 10.1097/SPC.0b013e328325d17a]

RevMan 2024 [Computer program]

Review Manager (RevMan). Version 8.3. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2024. Available at revman.cochrane.org.

Ribeiro 2018

Ribeiro Â, Ribeiro JP, von Doellinger O. Depression and psychodynamic psychotherapy. *Brazilian Journal of Psychiatry* 2018;**40**:105-9. [DOI: 10.1590/1516-4446-2016-2107]

Rogers 1951

Rogers C. Client-Centred Therapy: Its Current Practice, Implications and Theory. London: Constable, 1951.

Roth 2006

Roth A, Fonargy P. What Works for Whom? A Critical Review of Psychotherapy Research. 2nd edition. New York: Guilford Press, 2006.

Schünemann 2023

Schünemann HJ, Higgins JP, Vist GE, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Skoetz N, et al. Chapter 14: Completing 'Summary of findings' tables and grading the certainty of the evidence. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated October 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Seon 2023

Seon Q, Mady N, Yang M, Karia M, Lashley M, Sescu C, et al. A virtual reality-assisted cognitive behavioural therapy for and with Inuit in Québec: protocol for a proof-of-concept randomized controlled trial. *JMIR Research Protocols* 2023;**12**:e40236. [DOI: 10.2196/40236]

Serfaty 2020

Serfaty M, King M, Nazareth I, Moorey S, Aspden T, Mannix K, et al. Effectiveness of cognitive-behavioural therapy for depression in advanced cancer: CanTalk randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2020;**216**:213-21. [DOI: 10.1192/bjp.2019.207]

Skinner 1953

Skinner BF. Science and Human Behaviour. New York: Free Press, 1953.

Soto-Rubio 2018

Soto-Rubio A, Perez-Marin M, Miguel JT, Martin PB. Emotional distress of patients at end-of-life and their caregivers: interrelation and predictors. *Frontiers in Psychology* 2018;**9**:1-8. [DOI: 10.3389%2Ffpsyg.2018.02199]

Stuart 2019

Stuart B, Mahler E, Koomson P. A large-scale advanced illness intervention informs Medicare's new serious illness payment model. *Aging and Health* 2019;**38**:950-6. [DOI: 10.1377/ hlthaff.2018.05517]

Van Deurzen 1997

Van Deurzen E. Everyday Mysteries: Existential Dimensions of Psychotherapy. London (UK): Routledge, 1997.

Von Blanckenburg 2018

von Blanckenburg P, Leppin N. Psychological interventions in palliative care. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry* 2018;**31**(5):389-95. [DOI: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000441]

Walsh 2003

Walsh SM, Weiss S. Online exclusive: art intervention with family caregivers and patients with cancer. *Oncology Nursing Society* 2003;**30**(6):E115-120. [DOI: 10.1188/03.ONF.E115-E120]

Walsh 2021

Walsh SC, Murphy E, Devane D, Sampson EL, Connolly S, Carney P, et al. Palliative care interventions in advanced



dementia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 9. Art. No: CD011513. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011513.pub3]

Warth 2019

Warth M, Kessler J, Koehler F, Aguilar-Raab C, Bardenheuer H, Ditzen B. Brief psychosocial interventions improve quality of life of patients receiving palliative care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Palliative Medicine* 2019;**33**(3):332-45. [DOI: 10.1177/0269216318818011]

Watson 1924

Watson JB. Behaviorism. New York: Norton, 1924.

Weissman 2000

Weissman MM, Markowitz JW, Klerman GL. Comprehensive Guide to Interpersonal Psychotherapy. New York: Basic Books, 2000.

WHO 2020

World Health Organisation. Palliative Care. Available from https://www.who.int/health-topics/palliative-care (accessed 13 September 2024).

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. MEDLINE OVID search strategy

- 1 Palliative Care/
- 2 palliat*.tw.
- 3 Terminally Ill/
- 4 Terminal Care/
- 5 (terminal* adj6 care*).tw.
- 6 ((terminal* adj6 ill*) or terminal-stage* or dying or (close adj6 death)).tw.
- 7 (terminal* adj6 disease*).tw.
- 8 (end adj6 life).tw.
- 9 hospice*.tw.
- 10 (end-stage disease* or end-stage illness*).tw.
- 11 (advanced disease* or advanced cancer* or advanced illness*).tw.
- 12 (incurable or life-limiting).tw.
- 13 (advanced directive* or living will* or "do-not-resuscitate order* ").tw.
- 14 Hospices/
- 15 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 or 13 or 14
- 16 exp Psychotherapy/
- 17 exp Biofeedback, Psychology/
- 18 ((behavio?r* or cognit* or relax*) adj2 (therapy or therapies or intervention* or approach* or technique* or mechanism*)).tw.
- 19 (meditat* or "expressive writing" or (compassionate adj2 training) or (compassionate adj2 therapy) or (emotion* adj2 disclos*)).tw.

20 (psychotherap* or psycho-therap* or counsel*).tw.

Williams 2020

Williams AC, Fisher E, Hearn L, Eccleston C. Psychological therapies for the management of chronic pain (excluding headache) in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 8. Art. No: CD007407. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007407.pub4]

WPCA 2014

Worldwide Palliative Care Alliance. Global atlas of palliative care at the end of life. Available at https://www.who.int/nmh/Global_Atlas_of_Palliative_Care.pdf (accessed 13 September 2024).

Zarroti 2021

Zarroti N, Mayberry E, Ovaska-Stafford N, Eccles F, Simpson J. Psychological interventions for people with motor neuron disease: a scoping review. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis and Frontotemporal Degeneration* 2021;**22**:1-11. [DOI: 10.1080/21678421.2020.1788094]

Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol) Copyright © 2024 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- 21 (psycholog* adj2 (treatment* or therapy or therapies)).tw.
- 22 "group therapy".tw.
- 23 "selfâ€⊡regulation training".tw.
- 24 coping skill*.tw.
- 25 pain related thought*.tw.
- 26 (behavio#r* adj2 rehabilitat*).tw.
- 27 (psychoeducation* or psych-education* or psychosocial or psycho-social).tw.
- 28 (mind adj2 body relaxation technique*).tw.
- 29 exp Mind-Body Therapies/
- 30 Emotional Adjustment/
- 31 counseling/ or directive counseling/ or distance counseling/
- 32 exp Mindfulness/
- 33 mindful*.tw.
- 34 or/16-33
- 35 randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 36 controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 37 randomized.ab.
- 38 placebo.ab.
- 39 drug therapy.fs.
- 40 randomly.ab.
- 41 trial.ab.
- 42 35 or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41
- 43 exp animals/ not humans.sh.
- 44 42 not 43
- 45 15 and 34 and 44

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

SJ: will oversee the project and will be responsible for writing the draft and final version of the protocol

SJ, CD, DC, DM, AT, BC: were involved in discussion of PICO inclusion criteria, editing the protocol, and providing comments before final submission

CD, DM, AT, MM and BC: provided clinical input in the discussion of the PICO inclusion criteria

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2014 Commercial Sponsorship Policy

SJ: none known

DC: none known

AT: none known

Psychological interventions for emotional well-being in adults with advanced progressive life-limiting illness (Protocol) Copyright © 2024 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



BC: none known

DM: received grants from the Economic and Social Research Council and Marie Curie for a co-funded PhD studentship. DM has not been involved in any randomised controlled trials of the preliminary interventions, nor published work eligible for inclusion in the review, nor involvement in further development/evaluation work of the intervention following PhD completion.

CD: none known

MM: none known

2020 Conflicts of Interest Policy

SJ: none known

DC: none known

AT: none known. AT is a field editor for the Cochrane Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care review group.

BC: none known

DM: has a PhD on development and preliminary feasibility testing of a psychological intervention for people living with terminal illness receiving hospice care

CD: none known

MM: none known

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• None to declare, Other

None

External sources

• National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), UK

Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Cochrane Pain, Palliative and Supportive Care Review Group (PaPaS) up to 31 March 2023.